



Cisco Unified Computing System Using EMC CLARiiON Storage, VMware vSphere 4, and SAP Adaptive Computing Compliant System

White Paper June 2010 Revision 1.0



cisco





Contents

1	WHAT YOU WILL LEARN	4
	INTRODUCTION Leadership From Cisco SAP System Configuration Benefits of a Cisco Unified Computing System Configuration	4 4 4
	Simplified Deployment and Operation	
2	SAP ADAPTIVE COMPUTING CONCEPT	6
3	THE CISCO UNIFIED COMPUTING SOLUTION	8
	COMPREHENSIVE MANAGEMENT RADICAL SIMPLIFICATION HIGH PERFORMANCE SCALABILITY DECOUPLED FROM COMPLEXITY READY FOR THE FUTURE	8 8 9 9
4 ENV	THE VALUE-ADD OF VMWARE VSPHERE 4 IN AN ADAPTIVE COMPUTING	10
	CONSOLIDATION AND INCREASED FLEXIBILITY EASY PHYSICAL-TO-VIRTUAL AND VIRTUAL-TO-PHYSICAL MIGRATION FAST PROVISIONING FULL VCENTER INTEGRATION COMBINING THE FEATURES	10 10 10 10 10
5	CONFIGURATION OVERVIEW	11
6	SOLUTION ARCHITECTURE	13
	DETAILED TOPOLOGY	13
7	CONFIGURING CISCO UCS FOR SAP SYSTEM IMPLEMENTATION	16
	CONFIGURING THE SERVER PORTS CONFIGURING UPLINKS TO THE SAN AND LAN CONFIGURING THE SAN AND LAN ON CISCO UCS MANAGER	16 16 17
8	SETTING UP SERVICE PROFILES	19
9	CREATING THE SERVICE PROFILE TEMPLATE	20
	CREATING AND ASSOCIATING VNICS WITH VLANS CREATING AND ASSOCIATING SERVICE PROFILES WITH BLADE SERVERS	27 30
10	CONFIGURING THE SAN SWITCH AND ZONING	32
11	SETTING UP EMC STORAGE	36
	PREPARE THE STORAGE FOR VIRTUALIZED SAP IMPLEMENTATION SUPPORT EMC SYMMETRIX VMAX MANAGEMENT EMC CLARIION MANAGEMENT HOW TO CLONE A LUN WITH EMC STORAGE	36 36 37 37 37
	CONFIGURING STORAGE	38





12	INSTALLING THE OPERATING SYSTEMS	39
	METHOD OF SINGLE OS MAINTENANCE VMWARE VSPHERE 4 INSTALLATION WINDOWS INSTALLATION Install Windows Server 2008 on a Cisco UCS Blade Server Install Windows Server 2008 on a Virtual Machine	39 42 42 51
	Install Java Software Windows Registry changes Set Environment Variables Network Configuration	51 51 52 52
	LINUX INSTALLATION. Install Red Hat Enterprise Linux 5.4 on a Cisco UCS Blade Server. Install Red Hat Enterprise Linux 5.4 on a Virtual Machine Install Java Software	53 53 56 56
	Preparing Linux OS to Host the SAP system	56
13	ADDITIONAL SOFTWARE	57
	PATCHES EMC ² SOFTWARE	57 57
14	CENTRAL SERVICES	58
15	INSTALLING DATABASE AND SAP APPLICATIONS	59
16	WINDOWS BASED INSTALLATIONS MICROSOFT SQL 2008 SERVER INSTALLATION ORACLE RDBMS 10.2 INSTALLATION MAXDB INSTALLATION SAP HOST AGENT INSTALLATION SAP SYSTEM INSTALLATION Global Host Preparations for SAP System WIN Database Instance for SAP System WIN Central Instance for SAP System WIN LINUX BASED INSTALLATIONS Database Instance Installation SAP Host Agent Installation SAP System Installation SAP System Installation LINUX HOST PREPARATION	60 61 61 61 61 61 62 63 64 64 64 64 64 64
16	CONFIGURING THE ACC	66
		66
	INTEGRATING AN SAP SERVICE	66 69
17	INTEGRATION OF A COMPUTING RESOURCE INTEGRATING AN SAP SERVICE	
17 18	INTEGRATION OF A COMPUTING RESOURCE INTEGRATING AN SAP SERVICE CONCLUSION	66 69 74 76







1 What You Will Learn

This document describes how the Cisco Unified Computing System[™](UCS) can be used in conjunction with EMC® CLARiiON® or Symmetrix VMAX storage systems and VMware® vSphere 4[™] to implement SAP Systems compliant to SAP Adaptive Computing. The Cisco Unified Computing System provides the compute, network, virtualization, and storage access resources that are centrally controlled and managed as a single cohesive system. VMware vSphere 4 adds more flexibility and manageability to the computing resources. The result is an implementation that addresses many of the challenges that SAP Basis administrators and their IT departments face today, including needs for a simplified deployment and operation model, high performance for SAP systems, and lower total cost of ownership (TCO). The document introduces the Cisco Unified Computing System and provides instructions for implementing it; concluding with an analysis of reliability characteristics. This document provides an overview of configuration along with instructions for setting up the Cisco Unified Computing System. The document reports on Cisco's performance measurements and a reliability analysis that demonstrates how the system continues operation even when hardware faults occur. This document will not show SAP performance numbers or sizing suggestions.

Introduction

Leadership From Cisco

Cisco is the undisputed leader in providing network connectivity in enterprise data centers. With the introduction of the Cisco Unified Computing System, Cisco is now equipped to provide the entire infrastructure for SAP systems deployments. With the capability to scale to up to 320 servers and incorporate both blade and rack-mount servers in a single system, the Cisco Unified Computing System together with EMC CLARiiON / Symmetrix VMAX storage systems and VMware vSphere 4 virtualization technology provides an ideal foundation for SAP application deployments.

Historically, enterprise resource planning systems have run on costly symmetric multiprocessing servers that use a vertical scaling (or scale-up) model. However, as the cost of one-to-four-socket x86-architecture servers continues to drop while their processing power increases, a new model has emerged. SAP systems uses a horizontal scaling, or scale-out, model, in which the application stack uses multiple servers, each contributing its processing power to the application stack, increasing performance, scalability, and availability. SAP system logon groups can balance the workload across the application servers, and the SAP application is continuously available in the event of a server failure.

SAP System Configuration

All components for an SAP implementation work together flawlessly, and Cisco, EMC and VMware have worked closely with SAP to create, test, and certify an Adaptive Computing Compliant configuration of SAP systems on the Cisco Unified Computing System.

Benefits of a Cisco Unified Computing System Configuration

The Cisco Unified Computing System Configuration for SAP systems offers a number of important benefits:

Simplified Deployment and Operation

Because the entire SAP application stack runs on a single cohesive system, SAP Basis







administrators no longer need to painstakingly configure each element in the hardware stack independently. The system's compute, network, and storage-access resources are essentially stateless, provisioned dynamically by Cisco® UCS Manager. This role- and policy-based embedded management system handles every aspect of system configuration, from a server's firmware and identity settings to the network connections that connect storage traffic to the destination storage system. This capability dramatically simplifies the process of scaling an SAP system configuration or re-hosting an existing node on an upgrade server. Cisco UCS Manager uses the concept of service profiles and service profile templates to consistently and accurately configure resources. The system automatically configures and deploys servers in minutes, rather than the hours or days required by traditional systems composed of discrete, separately managed components. Indeed, Cisco UCS Manager can simplify server deployment to the point where it can automatically discover, provision, and deploy a new blade server when it is inserted into a chassis.

The system is based on a 10-Gbps unified network fabric that radically simplifies cabling at the rack level by consolidating both IP and Fibre Channel traffic onto the same rack-level 10GbE converged network. This "wire-once" model allows in-rack network cabling to be configured once, with network features and configurations all implemented by changes in software rather than by error-prone changes in physical cabling. The balanced resources of the Cisco Unified Computing System allow the system to easily process a data and bandwidth intensive service like Business Warehouse and response time dependent workload like ERP with no resource saturation. This sample SAP system configuration not only supports physically separate networks; it provides redundancy with automatic failover.

High-Performance Platform for SAP Systems

The Cisco UCS B-Series blade servers used in this configuration feature Intel Xeon 5500 series processors that deliver intelligent performance, automated energy efficiency, and flexible virtualization. Intel Turbo Boost Technology automatically boosts processing power through increased frequency and use of hyperthreading to deliver high performance when workloads demand and thermal conditions permit.

The patented Cisco Extended Memory Technology offers twice the memory footprint (384 GB) of any other server using 8-GB DIMMs, or the economical option of a 192-GB memory footprint using inexpensive 4-GB DIMMs. Both choices for large memory footprints can help speed application performance by allowing more data or programs to be cached in memory.





2 SAP Adaptive Computing Concept

This solution combines Server Virtualization from VMware with SAP Adaptive Computing Application Virtualization. This provides the highest available degree of flexibility and operability that an SAP landscape can have.



Figure 1: Server Virtualization

The SAP Adaptive Computing Controller lets you manage entire SAP software landscapes and IT infrastructures. This helps reduce complexity, cut data center costs, increase hardware utilization, and achieve the flexibility and scalability needed to improve IT efficiency and value.

The SAP Adaptive Computing Controller provides a single point of control that allows your system administrator to visualize, monitor, and manage data center tasks for deployed SAP solutions.







Figure 2: SAP Adaptive Computing Solution









3 The Cisco Unified Computing Solution

The Cisco Unified Computing System (UCS) is a next-generation data center platform that unites compute, network, and storage access. The platform, optimized for virtual environments, is designed within open industry standard technologies and aims to reduce TCO and increase business agility. The system integrates a low-latency, lossless 10 Gigabit Ethernet unified network fabric with enterprise-class, x86-architecture servers. The system is an integrated, scalable, multi-chassis platform in which all resources participate in a unified management domain.

The Cisco Unified Computing System represents a radical simplification of the traditional blade server deployment model by providing simplified, stateless blades and a blade server chassis that is centrally provisioned, configured, and managed by Cisco UCS Manager. The result is a unified system that significantly reduces the number of components while offering a just-in-time provisioning model that allows systems to be deployed or redeployed in minutes rather than hours or days.

The Cisco Unified Computing System addresses many of the challenges faced by SAP Basis administrators and their IT departments, making it an ideal platform for SAP implementation:

Comprehensive Management

The system uses an embedded, end-to-end management system that uses a high-availability activestandby configuration. Cisco UCS Manager uses role and policy-based management that allows IT departments to continue to use subject-matter experts to define server, network, and storage access policy. After a server and its identity, firmware, configuration, and connectivity are defined, the server, or a number of servers like it, can be deployed in minutes, rather than the hours or days that it typically takes to move a server from the loading dock to production use. This capability relieves SAP Basis administrators from tedious, manual assembly of individual components and makes scaling an SAP system configuration a straightforward process.

Radical Simplification

The Cisco Unified Computing System represents a radical simplification compared to the way that servers and networks are deployed today. It reduces network access-layer fragmentation by eliminating switching inside the blade server chassis. It integrates compute resources on a unified I/O fabric that supports standard IP protocols as well as Fibre Channel through FCoE encapsulation. The system eliminates the limitations of fixed I/O configurations with an I/O architecture that can be changed through software on a per-server basis to provide needed connectivity using a just-in-time deployment model. The result of this radical simplification is fewer switches, cables, adapters, and management points, helping reduce cost, complexity, power needs, and cooling overhead.

High Performance

The system's blade servers are based on the fastest Intel Xeon 5500 series processors. These processors adapt performance to application demands, increasing the clock rate on specific processor cores as workload and thermal conditions permit. These processors, combined with patented Cisco Extended Memory Technology, deliver application performance along with the memory footprint needed to support memory intensive applications. The system is integrated within a 10 Gigabit Ethernet–based unified fabric that delivers the throughput and low-latency characteristics needed to support the demands of the cluster's public network, storage traffic, and high-volume cluster messaging traffic.







Scalability Decoupled from Complexity

The system used to create the sample configuration is designed to be highly scalable, with up to 40 blade chassis and 320 blade servers connected by a single pair of low-latency, lossless fabric interconnects. New compute resources can be put into service quickly, enabling SAP systems configurations to be scaled on demand, and with the compute resources they require.

Ready for the Future

The system gives SAP systems room to scale while anticipating future technology investments. The blade server chassis, power supplies, and mid-plane are capable of handling future servers with even greater processing capacity. Likewise, the chassis is built to support future 40 Gigabit Ethernet standards when they become available.



4 The Value-Add of VMware vSphere 4 in an Adaptive Computing Environment

Consolidation and Increased Flexibility

With VMware vSphere 4 as virtual resource provider, you can achieve higher levels of utilization of your physical computing resources. By configuring a VMware Distributed Resource Scheduling (DRS) cluster, live migration of virtual computing resources can take place automatically to load balance the environment. The live migration process itself uses VMware vMotion[™], which does not affect the running SAP instances or databases. The manual migration of Virtual Machines can also be performed by using the SAP Adaptive Computing Controller.

Easy Physical-to-Virtual and Virtual-to-Physical Migration

In an Adaptive Computing environment, your services (SAP instances and databases) are not bound to a specific computing resource but can be migrated from one server to another. It does not matter if this server runs on native hardware or if this server is a Virtual Machine. Physical and virtual computing resources can be lumped together in the same resource pool, so both types are able to run the same set of services.

Fast Provisioning

Templates of Virtual Machines, which are stored in your VMware vCenter™/ESX® configuration repository, can be deployed by using the SAP ACC.

Full vCenter Integration

The SAP ACC uses the VMware vCenter API to perform basic operations, read the Virtual Machine configuration and provide overview information about the available Virtual Machines and their utilization.

Combining the Features

All features of VMware vSphere 4, including those not described here, can be used without interruption of the SAP ACC. In particular, VMware Business Continuity features (such as High Availability, Disaster Recovery and Data Protection) are available and can provide a great benefit for SAP systems







5 Configuration Overview

The Cisco Unified Computing System used for this configuration is based on Cisco B-Series Blade Servers; however, the breadth of Cisco's server and network product line suggests that similar product combinations will meet the same requirements. The Cisco Unified Computing System uses a form-factor-neutral architecture that will allow Cisco C-Series Rack-Mount Servers to be integrated as part of the system using capabilities planned to follow the product's first customer shipment (FCS). Similarly, the system's core components—high-performance compute resources integrated using a unified fabric—can be integrated manually today using Cisco C-Series servers and Cisco Nexus[™] 5000 Series Switches.

The system used to create the sample SAP systems implementation is built from the hierarchy of components illustrated below.



Figure 3: Cisco UCS Components

The Cisco UCS 6120XP 20-Port Fabric Interconnect provides low-latency, lossless, 10-Gbps unified fabric connectivity for the cluster. The interconnect provides connectivity to blade server chassis and the enterprise IP network. Through an 8-port, 4-Gbps Fibre Channel expansion card, the interconnect provides native Fibre Channel access to the storage system. Two fabric interconnects







are configured in the cluster, providing physical separation between public and application networks and also providing the capability to securely host both networks in the event of a failure.

The Cisco UCS 2104XP Fabric Extender brings the unified fabric into each blade server chassis. The fabric extender is configured and managed by the fabric interconnects, eliminating the complexity of blade-server-resident switches. Two fabric extenders are configured in each of the cluster's two blade server chassis. Each one uses two of the four available 10-Gbps uplinks to connect to one of the two fabric interconnects.

The Cisco UCS 5108 Blade Server Chassis houses the fabric extenders, up to four power supplies, and up to eight blade servers. As part of the system's radical simplification, the blade server chassis is also managed by the fabric interconnects, eliminating another point of management. One chassis were configured for the SAP Adaptive Computing Compliance Test system implementation described in this document.

The blade chassis supports up to eight half-width blades or up to four full-width blades. The system was equipped with six Cisco UCS B200 M1 Blade Servers and one Cisco UCS B250 Blade Server, each equipped with two quad-core Intel Xeon 5500 series processors at 2.93 GHz. Each Cisco UCS B200 M1 blade server was configured with 96 GB of memory. The Cisco UCS B250 M1 blade was configured with 192 GB memory. A configuration of up to 384 GB is possible with the Extended Memory technology of the Cisco UCS B250 M1 Blade Server.

The blade server form factor supports a range of mezzanine-format Cisco UCS network adapters, including a 10 Gigabit Ethernet network adapter designed for efficiency and performance, the Cisco UCS M81KR Virtual Interface Card designed to deliver the system's full support for virtualization, and a set of Cisco UCS M71KR converged network adapters designed for full compatibility with existing Ethernet and Fibre Channel environments. These adapters present both an Ethernet network interface card (NIC) and a Fibre Channel host bus adapter (HBA) to the host operating system. They make the existence of the unified fabric transparent to the operating system, passing traffic from both the NIC and the HBA onto the unified fabric. Versions are available with either Emulex or QLogic HBA silicon; the sample configuration uses a Cisco UCS M71KR-Q QLogic Converged Network Adapter that provides 20-Gbps of connectivity by connecting to each of the chassis fabric extenders.





6 Solution Architecture



Detailed Topology

As shown in Figure 3, one chassis housing five blades were used for this sample SAP system







implementation. Tables 1 through 4 list the configuration details for all the server, LAN, and SAN components that were used for testing.



Figure 4: Detailed topology of the Public Network and Application Network

Table 1:	Physical	Cisco	Unified	Computing	System	Server	Configuration
							<u> </u>

Quantity	Description
1	Cisco UCS 5108 Blade Server Chassis, with 2 power supply units, 8 fans,
	and 2 fabric extenders
6	Cisco UCS B200 M1 Blade Server
1	Cisco UCS B250 M1 Blade Server
2 per blade	Quad-core Intel Xeon 5500 series 2.93-GHz processor
12 per B200	4-GB DDR3 DIMM, 1066 MHz, totaling 48 GB per B200 blade server
48 per B250	4-GB DDR3 DIMM, 1066 MHz, totaling 192 GB per B250 blade server
1 per blade	Cisco UCS M71KR-Q QLogic Converged Network Adapter, PCIe, 2 ports,
	and 10 Gigabit Ethernet
2	Cisco UCS 6120XP 20-Port Fabric Interconnect with 2 power supply units
	and 2 fans
2	8-port, 4-Gbps Fibre Channel expansion port module
4	4-Gbps Fibre Channel- Small Form-Factor Pluggable (SFP) Line Card
8	10GBASE-CU SFP+ cable (5 meters)
8	Fiber cables for connectivity to Fibre Channel and 10 Gigabit Ethernet

Table 2: SAN Components

Quantity	Description
2	Cisco MDS 9222i switch







Quantity Description 1 EMC² Storage Symmetrix VMAX 45 450-GB, 15,000 RPM, Fibre Channel spindles Table 4: Software Components Description Microsoft Windows 2008 Server Red Hat Linux Enterprise Server 5.4 SAP MaxDB 7.8.01 Build 08 64-Bit Oracle 10.2.0.4 64-Bit Microsoft SQL 2008 Server 64-Bit SAP NetWeaver CE 7.2 (AS JAVA Kernel 7.20 PL30, JVM 6.1 PL10) ACC 7.2 SP01 SAP NetWeaver 7.0 EHP1 (AS ABAP Kernel 7.01 PL69) SAP Host Agent 7.20 SP22

Table 3: Storage Configuration



7 Configuring Cisco UCS for SAP System Implementation

Configuring the Cisco UCS 6120XP Fabric Interconnect

The Cisco UCS 6120XP Fabric Interconnect is configured in a cluster pair for redundancy. It provides resiliency and access to the system configuration data in the rare case of hardware failure.

For fabric interconnects, the configuration database is replicated from the primary switch to the standby switch. All operations are transaction-based, keeping the data on both switches synchronized.

Note: Detailed information about the fabric interconnect configuration is beyond the scope of this document. For more information, refer to the Cisco Unified Computing System documentation at

http://www.cisco.com/en/US/docs/unified_computing/ucs/sw/gui/config/guide/b_GUI_Config_Guide.html

Configuring the Server Ports

The first step is to establish connectivity between the blades and fabric interconnects. The ports should be configured as server ports as shown Figure 5 Four public links go to Fabric Interconnect A and four private links go to Fabric Interconnect B.



Figure 5: Physical Connectivity and Port Configuration

Configuring Uplinks to the SAN and LAN

Configure the uplink Fibre Channel ports (Expansion Module 2).







Configuring the SAN and LAN on Cisco UCS Manager

Before configuring the service profile, do the following:

1. Configure the SAN.

On the SAN tab, set the VSANs to be used in the SAN (if any). We also recommend to set up pools for worldwide node name (WWNN) and worldwide port name (WWPN) for assignment to the blade server virtual HBAs (vHBAs).

Sample pool definitions:

WWxN:	20:00:00:25:B5	The first 5 bytes are registered for Cisco
	20:00:00:25:B5:XX	The first Bit identifies 0 as node and 1 as port
		The second bit is used to identify the OS
		0 = Windows
		1= Linux
		2 = VMware ESX
	20:00:00:25:B5:00:XX	The 7 th Byte identifies the Organization (only
		a number for each Sub-Organization)
	20:00:00:25:B5:00:00:XX	The last byte identifies the node or port

2. Configure the LAN.

On the LAN tab, set the VLAN assignments to the virtual NICs (vNICs). You can also set up MAC address pools for assignment to vNICs. For this setup, the public VLAN (VLAN ID 100) was used for public interfaces, and the application VLAN (VLAN ID 200) was created for SAP application to application communication.

Sample po	ol definitions:	
MAC:	00:25:B5	The first 3 bytes are registered for Cisco
	00:25:B5:XX	The first Bit is used to identify the port
		0 for eth0, 1 for eth1, 2 for eth2*,
		eth2 – ethXX with M81KR (Palo) only
		The second bit is used to identify the OS
		0 = Windows
		1= Linux
		2 = VMware ESX
	00:25:B5:00:XX	The 5 th Byte identifies the Organization (only
		a number for each Sub-Organization)
	00:25:B5:00:00:XX	The last byte identifies the NIC.

Note: It is very important that you create a VLAN that is global across both fabric interconnects. This way, VLAN identity is maintained across the fabric interconnects in case of failover.





The screen shot below shows two VLANs:



After you have completed these preparatory steps, generate a service profile template for the required hardware configuration. You can then create the service profiles for all eight nodes from the template.





8 Setting Up Service Profiles

Service profiles are the central concept of the Cisco Unified Computing System. Each service profile serves a specific purpose: to help ensure that the associated server hardware has the configuration required to support the applications it will host.

The service profile maintains configuration information about:

- Server hardware
- Interfaces
- Fabric connectivity
- Server and network identity

This information is stored in a format that can be managed through Cisco UCS Manager. All service profiles are centrally managed and stored in a database on the fabric interconnect.

The service profile consists of the following information:

- Identity and personality information for the server
 - Universally unique ID (UUID)
 - Worldwide node name (WWNN)
 - o Boot order
- LAN and SAN configuration (through the vNIC and vHBA configuration)
 - NIC and HBA identity (MAC and WWN/WWPN information)
 - Ethernet NIC profile (flags, maximum transmission unit [MTU], etc.)
 - o VLAN and VSAN connectivity information
- Various policies (disk scrub policy, QoS etc.). For the SAP Adaptive Computing Compliance test system implementation, we used boot policy.

cisco



9 Creating the Service Profile Template

To create the service profile template, do the following:

- 1. From the Service Profile Templates screen, click the Servers tab.
- 2. Click Service Profile Template.

A Cisco Unified Computing System Manager - SAPTME01		
Fault Summary	E S 💿 🗉 New - 🖌 Qoptions 🛛 🕢 🚺 🖸 Exit	ahah cisco
	>> 🥪 Servers > 🎹 Service Profile Templates > 🁬 root	🙏 root
	General Sub-Organizations Service Profiles Pools Policies Faults Events	
Equipm ne bervers an SAN VM Admin		^
Filter: All	Fault Summary Properties	
Service Profiler	Name: root	
E in the Profiles	U 4 7 10 Description:	
Service Profile BIOS-Update	Actions Level: root	
	Create Organization	
A root	Create Service Profile	
- S Policies		
E 😨 Pools		
E-A root	Create Service Profile Template	E
UUID Suffix Pools	Create Service Profiles From Template	
🕀 🎪 Sub-Organizations	Pools	
	Create Server Pool	
	Create UUID Suffix Pool	
	Policies	
	Create Server Pool Policy Qualification	
	Create Boot Policy	
	Create Ethernet Adapter Dalicy	
	Create Fibre Channel Adapter Policy	
	Create Local Disk Configuration Policy	
	Create IPMI Profile	
	Create Server Pool Policy	
		-
		•
	Save Changes	Reset Values
B Logged in as ukleidon@10.29.155.9	System Time: 20	10-04-23T20:53







📥 Create Service Profile Temple	ate 🔀
Unified (Computing System Manager
onnica c	Sompating Oystelli Manager
Create Service Profile Template 1. <u>VIdentify Service Profile</u> <u>Template</u> 2. Usterano	Identify Service Profile Template 6 You must enter a name for the service profile template and specify the template type. You can also specify how a UUID will be assigned to this template and enter a description.
3. DNetworking	Name: SAP_APPL
4. Server Boot Order 5. Server Assignment	The tempore means the second sec
6. Doperational Policies	The template will be created in the following organization. Its name must be unique within this organization.
	Type: O Initial Template O Updating Template
	Specify how the UUID will be assigned to the server associated with the service generated by this template.
	UUID Assignment: Select (pool default used by default)
	Select UUID assignment option. If no selection is made, the UUID will be assigned from the default pool.
	WARNING: The selected pool does not contain any available entities. You can select it, but it is recommended that you add entities to it.
	Optionally enter a description for the profile. The description can contain information about when and where the service profile should be used.
	<pre></pre>

- 3. From the Identify Service Profile Template screen:
 - a. In the Name field, enter the template name (for example, SAP_APPL).
 - b. For the template type, choose initial template.

Initial templates create new service profiles with the same attributes but the child service profiles are not updated when a change is made to the original template. Updating templates behave that the children profiles are immediately updated when a change to the template is made. This could result in all the dependent children profiles causing servers to reboot so they should be used with care.

4. Click Next.





📥 Create Service Profile Templ	ate	\mathbf{X}
Unified C	Computing System Manager	
Create Service Profile Template 1. VIdentify Service Profile Template 2. VIDENTIFY Service Profile	Storage Optionally specify disk policies and SAN configuration information.	0
Server Boot Order Server Boot Order Server Assignment Operational Policies	Local Storage: Select Local Storage Policy to use If nothing is selected, the default Local Storage configuration policy will be assigned to this service profile.	
	Scrub Policy: <not set=""> Create Scrub Policy How would you like to configure SAN storage? Simple Expert: Not SAS A server is identified on a SAN by its Work With Montecenses</not>	
	profile. World Wide Node Name WWNN Assignment: Select (pool default used by default)	
	Select WWNN assignment option. If nothing is selected, the WWNN will be assigned from the default pool. WARNING: The selected pool does not contain any available entities. You can select it, but it is recommended that you add entities to it.	
	Name WWPN Order 🕅	
	🔺 Move Up 🐨 Move Down 👚 Delete 🔛 Add 🌉 Modfy	
	< ev Next> Frish Cance	

- 5. To create vHBAs for SAN storage:
 - a. In the How would you like to configure SAN storage? options, select Expert.
 - b. Click **Add** to add an HBA.





📥 Create vHBA	
Create vHBA	Q
Nine: vHBA1 World	Wide Port Name
Use SAN Connectivity Template: WWP	I Assignment: default(16/32)
Create vHBA Template The	WWPN will be assigned from the selected pool.
The	available/total WWPNs are displayed after the pool name.
Pin Group: <not set=""></not>	
Persistent Binding: o disabled o enabled	
Operational Parameters 🛛 😵	
Adapter Performance Profile	
Adapter Policy: <not set=""> 💽 🚹 Create Fibre Channel Adapter Po</not>	icy
	OK

- 6. In the Name field, enter vHBA1.
- 7. In the Select VSAN drop-down list, choose VSAN default.

For simplicity, this configuration uses the default VSAN for both HBAs. You may need to make a different selection depending on what is appropriate for your configuration.

8. If you have created SAN pin groups for pinning Fibre Channel traffic to a specific Fibre Channel port, specify appropriate pin groups, using the **Pin Group** drop-down list.

Pinning in a Cisco Unified Computing System is relevant only to uplink ports, where you can pin Ethernet or FCoE traffic from a given server to a specific uplink Ethernet (NIC) port or uplink (HBA) Fibre Channel port. When you pin the NIC and HBA of both physical and virtual servers to uplink ports, you get finer control over the unified fabric. This control helps ensure better utilization of uplink port bandwidth. However, manual pinning requires an understanding of network and HBA traffic bandwidth across the uplink ports. We did not use pin groups for this configuration.

- 9. Click OK.
- 10. To create the second vHBA for SAN storage, go back to the Storage screen.







📥 Create Service Profile Temple	ate			
Unified C	computing S	ystem Manag	ger	
Create Service Profile Template 1. √Identify Service Profile	Storage Optionally specify disk polici	es and SAN configuration information.		Ø
Template 2. ✓ <u>Storage</u> 3. <u>Networking</u> 4. <u>Server Boot Order</u> 5. <u>Server Assignment</u> 6. <u>Operational Policies</u>	Select a local disk configuration policy. Local Storage: Select Local Storage	Policy to use If nothing is selecter configuration policy	d, the default Local Storage will be assigned to this service profile.	
	Scrub Policy: <not set=""></not>	Create Scrub Policy	? 💿 Simple 💿 Expert 💿 No vHBAs	
	World Wide Node Name WWNN Assignment: Select (pool de	fault used by default)	ne system snouid assign a www.iv.co.cne server as	sociated with this
	Select WWNN assignment option. If nothing is selected, the WWNN wil WARNING: The selected pool does You can select it. but it is recomment	l be assigned from the default pool. not contain any available entities. ded that you add entities to it.		
	Name	WWPN	Order	
	⊟ 🖼 vHBA vHBA1 ের্রা vHBA If default	derived	1	×
		🔺 Move Up 🔍 Move Down 👕 D	cte 🚹 Add 🚺 dify	
			< Prev Next >	Finish Cancel

11. Click **Add** to add an HBA.





🚖 Create vHBA	
Create vHBA	0
eme: vHBA2	World Wide Port Name
Use SARI Connectivity Template:	WWPN Assignment: default(16/32)
Create vHBA Template	The WWPN will be assigned from the selected pool.
	The available/cutar wwwniss are displayed after the poor hame.
Fabric ID: 🔿 A 💿 🗒	
Select VSAN: VSAN default Create VSAN	
Pin Group: <not set=""></not>	iroup
Operational Parameters	8
Adapter Performance Profile	
Adapter Policy: <not set=""> 💽 📑 Create Fibre Channel Ad</not>	lapter Policy
	OK

- 12. To create the second vHBA:
 - a. In the Name field, enter vHBA2.
 - b. In the Select VSAN drop-down list, choose VSAN default.

For simplicity, this configuration uses the default VSAN for both HBAs. You may need to make a different selection depending on what is appropriate for your configuration.

- c. If you have created SAN pin groups for pinning Fibre Channel traffic to a specific Fibre Channel port, specify appropriate pin groups, using the **Pin Group** drop-down list.
- 13. Click OK.







📥 Create Service Profile Temple	ate			
Unified C	Computing Syste	em Manager		
Create Service Profile Template	Storage Optionally specify disk policies and SAN	I configuration information.		0
Image: Terminate 2. √Storage 3. Metworking 4. Server Boot Order 5. Server Assignment 6. Operational Policies	Select a local disk configuration policy. Local Storage: Select Local Storage Policy to use	 If nothing is selected, the def configuration policy will be as: 	ault Local Storage signed to this service profile.	
	Scrub Policy: <not set=""> <</not>	srub Policy ke to configure SAN storage? Sin de Name (WWNN), Specify how the syster	nple • Expert • No vHBAs n should assign a WWNN to the server assi	ciated with this
	profile. World Wide Node Name WWNN Assignment: <u>Select (pool default used by</u>	default)		
	Select WWWIN assignment option. If nothing is selected, the WWINI will be assigned WARNING : The selected pool does not contain a You can select it, but it is recommended that you	from the default pool. ny available entities. add entities to it.		
	Name	WWPN	Order	Ę
	⊖ 🛒 vHBA vHBA1 ज्ञां vHBA If default	derived	1	
	uHBA vHBA2	derived	2	
		love Up 🔝 Move Down 👚 Delete 手	Add - Modify	<u> </u>
		_		
			< Prev Next >	Finish Lancel

14. Click Finish.

Two vHBAs have been created and completes the SAN configuration.







Creating and Associating vNICs With VLANs

To create the vNICs and associate them with the appropriate VLANs, do the following:

- 1. From the **Networking** screen:
 - a. In the How would you like to configure LAN connectivity? options, select Expert.
 - b. Click Add.

📥 Create Service Profile Temp	late					
Unified (Comput	ting Syste	em Mana	ager		
Create Service Profile Template	Networking Optionally sp	ecify LAN configuration info	mation.			0
Template 2. ✓ Storage 3. ✓ Networking 4. D Server Boot Order 5. D Server Assignment	Click Add to specify	How would you like I	to configure LAN connec	t ivity? O Simple 💿 Expert	No VNICS	
6. Doerational Policies.	Name	MAC Address	Order	Fabric ID	Native VLAN	E ×
					Prev Next > Fin	sh Cancel
					Prev Next > Pin	







📥 Create vNIC		X
Create vNIC		Ø
	Mag Address	
	MAC Address Assignment: Select (pool default used by default)	
Use LAN Connectivity Template:		
🕂 Create vNIC Template	Select MAC address assignment option. If nothing is selected, the MAC address will be assigned from the default pool.	
	WARNING: The selected pool does not contain any available entities. You can select it, but it is recommended that you add entities to it.	
Fabric ID: 💿 Fabric A 🔵 Fabric B 💽	Enable Failover	
VLA	N Trunking: No O Yes	
VLANS		
Select	ne Native VLAN	
defa		
or appl ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓	ication	
	×	
🛨 Create VLAN		
Pin Group: <not set=""></not>	Create LAN Pin Group	
Operational Parameters	8	
Adapter Performance Profile		
Adapter Policy: <not set=""></not>	Create Ethernet Adapter Policy	
QoS Policy: <not set=""></not>	 Create QoS Policy 	
Network Control Policy: <not set=""></not>	💌 🖶 Create Network Control Policy	
	ОК	ancel

- 2. In the Name field, enter vNIC1.
- 3. For the Fabric ID options, select Fabric A and Enable Failover.
- 4. For the VLAN Trunking options, select Yes.

VLAN trunking allows multiple VLANs to use a single uplink port on the system.

- 5. In the VLANs area, select the associated check boxes for **application** and **public**.
- 6. Click OK.

vNIC1 is assigned to use Fabric Interconnect A for the public network.





To create the second vNIC, do the following:

- 1. From the Networking screen:
 - a. Click Add to add vNIC2.

The Create vNIC screen displays.

- 2. From the Create vNICs screen:
 - a. In the Name field, enter vNIC2.
 - b. For the Fabric ID options, select Fabric B and Enable Failover.
 - c. For the VLAN Trunking options, select Yes.
 - d. In the VLANs area, select the associated check boxes for application and public.
- 3. Click OK.

vNIC2 is assigned to use Fabric Interconnect B for the Application network.

The Networking screen lists the vNICs that you have created.

📥 Create Service Profile Templ	ate					
Create Service Profile Template	Networking					0
1. ✓ <u>Identify Service Profile</u>	Optionally specify LAN configu	ration information.				
2. √Storage						
3. VNetworking	How would	d you like to configure LAN	connectivity? 🔘	Simple • Expert No vNICs		
 Server Boot Order Server Assignment 	Click Add to specify one or more vNICs th	hat the server should use to ser	post to the LAN.			
6. Doperational Policies	Name	MAC Address	Order	Fabric ID	tive VLAN	E
		derived	1	A-B		^
(()	-V Network public					
		derived	2	B-A		-
	Network public			-	6	~
		🔺 Move Up 🔍 Move D	own 👕 Delete 🕂	Add Modify		
				< Prev Nex	:> Finish	Cancel

The setup created here did not use SAN boot or any other policies. You can configure these in the screens that follow the Networking screen. You may be required to configure these policies if you choose to boot from the SAN or if you associate any specific policies with your configuration.

4. Click **Finish** to complete the service profile template.





Creating and Associating Service Profiles With Blade Servers

To create eight service profiles associated with individual blade servers, do the following:

- 1. From the Cisco Unified Computing System Manager screen:
 - a. Right-click Service Template SAP_APPL.
 - b. Select Create Service Profiles From Template.

📥 Cisco Unified Computing System Manager -	- SAPTME01			
Fault Summary	🔆 🕒 🔲 🗉 New - 🍃 Options 🛛 🕐 🕕	0 Exit		ahah
0 15 12 4	>> Servers + Service Profile Templates	A root > The Service Template SAP_APPL	[Service Template SAP_APPL
Equipment Servers LON SON Admin	General Policies vNICs vHBAs Boot Order	Events		
Filter: Al	Actions	Properties		
Service Profiles Service Profiles Service Profile refrank-bwa-test Service Profile rofile refrank-bwa-test Service Profile rofile refrank-bwa-test Service Profile Vindous-Bench Service Profile Undous-Bench Service Profile Bench Service Pro		Name: SAP_APPL Description: UUID: Derived from pool (default) Power State: down Type: Initial Template Associated Server Pool	San G	anges Reset Values
% Logged in as admin@10.29.155.9	L		System 1	Time: 2010-01-24T04:06

- 2. In the Create Service Profiles From Template dialog box:
 - a. In the Naming Prefix field, enter SAPDEMO.
 - b. In the **Number** field, enter **4**.
 - c. In the Service Profile Template field select **SAP_APPL**.



A Create Service Profiles From Template	×
Create Service Profiles From Template	0
	_
Naming Prefix: SAPDEMO	
Number: 4	
Service Profile Template: Service Template SAP_APPL	•
0	
ОК	Cancel

d. Click OK.

This step creates service profiles for all four blade servers. When the service profiles are created, they will pick unique MAC, WWN and WWPN values from the resource pools created earlier.

Now you can associate the profiles with the appropriate blade servers in the chassis.

cisco



10 Configuring the SAN Switch and Zoning

The Fabric Interconnects are connected to a SAN switch that also provides connectivity to storage.

Device Manager 4.2(1) - oowmds [admin]	
Device Physical Interface EC IP Security Admin Logs Help	Advanced
Clsco Systems 1 3 5 7 9 11 13 15 17 19 21 23 Status F F F F TE TE	4.1(2)
Up 🔤 Down 🗮 Fail 🔜 Minor 🔤 Unreachable 🗖	OutOfService 👻

To configure the SAN switch, do the following:

1. Make sure that the following configuration details are implemented:







B 📬 🦻	🗄 😂				
Name	Status	Action	LastCommand	Result	
fcsp	disabled	noSelection	noSelection	none	
ficon	disabled	noSelection	noSelection	none	
tacacs	disabled	noSelection	noSelection	none	
qos-manager	disabled	noSelection	noSelection	none	
port-security	disabled	noSelection	noSelection	none	
fabric-binding	disabled	noSelection	noSelection	none	
port_track	enabled	noSelection	noSelection	none	
scheduler	enabled	noSelection	noSelection	none	
DDiu	CHODICS	poSelection	noSelection	none	
dpvm	disabled	noSetection	noSelection	none	
sdv	disabled	noSelection	noSelection	none	
npv	disabled	noSelection	noSelection	none	
isapi	disabled	noSelection	noSelection	none	
cimserver	disabled	noSelection	noSelection	none	
santap	disabled	noSelection	noSelection	none	
tpc	disabled	noSelection	noSelection	none	
dmm	disabled	noSelection	noSelection	none	
evfp-host	disabled	noSelection	noSelection	none	
sfm	disabled	noSelection	noSelection	none	







b. The 4-GB SPF+ modules must be connected to the Cisco UCS 6100 Series Fabric

🗬 oowmds - f	c1/1										×
General	<u>R</u> x BB Credit	Other	FLOGI	ELP	<u>T</u> runk Config	Trunk Failures	Physical	⊆apability	Licens	4 🕨	Ξ
Description:											
PortVSAN:	1	•									
DynamicVSAN:											
-Mode	0			<u> </u>	0 CD 0 TI		- ND				-
Admin:					O SU O IL		0 NP				
-Speed											-
- Admin:	💿 auto () 1Gb 🤇) 2Gb 🤇) 4Gb	🔘 autoMax2G	🔿 8Gb 🔿 au	itoMax4G				
Oper:	4 Gb										
RateMode:	💿 dedicate	ed 🔘 sh	ared								
-Status											-
Service:	⊚ in ⊖ o	ut									
Admin:	💿 up 🔘 i	down									
Oper: EsilureCauser	up										
WasEnabled;	true										
LastChange:	2010/01/21-	02:33:46									
-Others	2										-
Owner:	4										
						Apply	Refres	h Help		Close	

- c. If you have created different VSANs, make sure to associate each FC uplink with the right VSAN.
- 2. To continue with your setup, refer to the established SAN and zoning best practices.







3. SAPTME - Driver
oowmds# show zone
zone name sapdemo01-EMC vsan 1
pwwn 20:00:00:25:B5:10:01:4F
pwwn 20:00:00:25:B5:10:01:5F
pwwn 50:06:01:60:3c:e0:1a:22
zone name sapdemo02-EMC vsan 1
pwwn 20:00:00:25:B5:11:01:4F
pwwn 20:00:00:25:B5:11:01:5F
pwwn 50:06:01:60:3c:e0:1a:22
zone name sapdemo03-EMC vsan 1
pwwn 20:00:00:25:B5:12:01:4F
pwwn 20:00:00:25:B5:12:01:4F
pwwn 20:00:00:25:B5:12:01:4F
pwwn 50:06:01:60:3c:e0:1a:22
zone name sapdemo03-EMC vsan 1
pwwn 20:00:00:25:B5:12:01:4F
pwwn 50:06:01:60:3c:e0:1a:22
zone name sapdemo03-EMC vsan 1
pwwn 20:00:00:25:B5:12:01:4F
pwwn 50:06:01:60:3c:e0:1a:22
zone name sapdemo03-EMC vsan 1
pwwn 20:00:00:25:B5:12:01:4F
pwwn 50:06:01:60:3c:e0:1a:22
zone name sapdemo03-EMC vsan 1
pwwn 20:00:00:25:B5:12:01:4F
pwwn 50:06:01:60:3c:e0:1a:22
pwwn 50:06:01:68:3c:e0:1a:22

After you complete the zoning, you are ready to configure storage.







11 Setting Up EMC Storage

This section provides general information about storage configuration for SAP systems. However, it does not supply details about host connectivity and logical unit number (LUN)—that is, RAID—configuration. For more information about EMC storage, refer to http://powerlink.emc.com.

Prepare the Storage for Virtualized SAP implementation

Before a LUN can be used they must be mapped manually to a Server. On that server start the Computer Manager and navigate to Storage -> Disk Management. Windows open a new Window to initialize all new Disks at this Server. The next step is to create a partition and Format this with the File system NTFS on all disks that will be used for ACC. If all disks have a File system remove all Drive letters or Mount path and remove the access from this host on the storage.

For EMC² Storage and the ELSA Module there is a configuration file C:\usr\sap\adaptive\emcadaptive.ini.

For each File system add a line with the syntax:

SRID Mount-Point Diskgroup Volume-ID

Where SRID is a unique Storage Resource ID, the Diskgroup is the Windows Diskgroup or four dashes "----", Volume-ID is the Host specific GUID of the disk out of "mountvol" and the Mountpoint is the Path where the LUN must be mounted end with a backslash. For detail see the ELSA Module documentation from EMC².

To find out which Volume is which EMC² LUN it is at best to map one LUN after the other. The Volume-ID for each mapped LUN can be identified by the command "mountvol". This must be done on every Compute node to add the Volume-ID to the corresponding SRID in the emcadaptive.ini file.

Support

The interoperability of Server Hardware from different vendors and Storage products of EMC can occur in a wide variation of combinations. EMC's main focus is to achieve the highest reliability and availability. For that, EMC tests lots of combinations of hardware and publishes the results monthly in the EMC Support Matrix. This matrix is public available on the internet using this URL:

http://www.emc.com/interoperability/matrices/EMCSupportMatrix.zip

Every combination, that is not mentioned in this Matrix will not be used as general available, because these combinations are checked and handled as individual cases.

EMC provides Customers, Partners ans Employees an information Portal, where all kind of Dokumentation like Release Notes, Version Histories, Administration Guides and White Papers can be found. This portal is accessible for registered Users on the internet using this URL:

http://powerlink.emc.com

The EMC² ELSA Module for SAP Adaptive Computing Controller requires the EMC² Solution Enabler to manage the LUNs on the storage system. The Documentation and the software are can be requested by email: <u>sap@emc.com</u>.






EMC Symmetrix VMAX Management

The Software "Symmetrix Management Console (SMC)" is the management GUI interface of an EMC Symmetrix VMAX Storage system. SMC runs on the Storage Processor of each Symmetrix VMAX array and provides a browser-based Management GUI. It is based on Java, each Management PC needs to have SUN JRE installed to use the GUI.

Symmetrix VMAX Autoprovisioning functionality can be performed from SMC to add, change and configure the EMC Symmetrix VMAX. Autoprovisioning performs the mapping and masking of the LUNS automatically. The additional Clones and Snaps can also be configured and managed from this utility.

Detailed information about SMC and Autoprovisioning can be found in the EMC Document library under http://powerlink.emc.com.

EMC CLARiiON Management

The Software "Navisphere Manager" ist the management utility of an EMC CLARiiON Storagesystem. Navisphere Manager runs on the Storage Processor of each CLARiiON and provides a browserbased Management GUI. It is based on Java and each Management PC needs to have SUN JRE installed to use the GUI.

Navisphere Manager provides all functions for adding, changing and configuring the EMC CLARiiON. Also LUN assignment and managing the additional Software as SnapView, MirrorView and Sancopy can be done by this utility.

Detailed Information about daily administrative Tasks, LUN Management und Configuration Changes is available in the *"Navisphere Administration Guide"* which can be found in the EMC Documentlibrary <u>http://powerlink.emc.com</u>.

The following section provides an overview of the Navisphere Manager Context Menu:

How to Clone a LUN With EMC Storage

EMC Symmetrix VMAX has TimeFinder software with Clones and Snaps, and EMC CLARiiON has SnapView that uses Clones and Snapshots. We will refer to both TimeFinder and SnapView as EMC Clones and EMC Snaps for this explanation. This Software is part of the layered application software, which is running on each EMC Storage Processor. The hosts will have the Solutions Enabler software installed along with the appropriate key for the clones and snaps functionality.

EMC Snaps are logical point-in-time copies of production LUNs. The EMC Snaps are created on one storage processor and is based in the memory of the storage processor. Snaps can be handled like a normal lun and can be assigned to a host. Snaps are available as a read-write LUN. Creating Snaps is a simply process only taking a few seconds.

An EMC Clone is a physical copy of a lun. This means, data on a production lun is copies to another. The copy runs block level-based. After an initial sync, which can take some time but happens in the background, the clone can be fractured or activated. After that the clone can be assigned to a host and is available for all I/O. Changes between the original source and the clone are tracked and can be re-synchronized incrementally.

In comparison between Snaps and Clones, Clones have a higher availability because data is stored on individual physical disks. Because of that, Clones do not interfere with production lun performance.







It takes longer time to create them initially, while a Snaps is created very fast.

More procedures and information is available in the "EMC SnapView Administration Guide" (P/N 069-001180) for CLARiiON and the "Solutions Enabler Symmetrix TimeFinder Family CLI Product Guide" (P/N 300-000-876) for Symmetrix VMAX. Additional information is available on Powerlink.

EMC Snaps are used to create storage system based copies of LUNs for testing along with Operating System cloning and other functions.

Configuring Storage

To configure storage for Cisco UCS data center solution, do the following:

1. Make sure to check host connectivity.

If each host has the EMC Navisphere Agent[®] package installed, the agent automatically registers the HBA initiators. If the package is not installed, make sure that all initiators are registered properly to complete the host registration. These can also be defined through the SMC GUI with Autoprovisioning on the Symmetrix VMAX arrays.

2. Create the RAID groups.

Testing for the Cisco Unified Computing System solution used:

- EMC Symmetrix VMAX with 45 Fibre Channel disks
- EMC CLARiiON CX4-480 with 45 Fibre Channel disks
- 2 RAID-5 Groups to store the operating systems, applications and Archive logs
- 2 RAID-0+1 Groups to store the database data files
- 1 RAID-0+1 group to store the database redolog files
- 3. Create the LUNs.

Note: It is extremely important that you choose an appropriate Storage Processor as the default owner so that both the service processors are evenly balanced.

For more information about SAP best practices for EMC storage, refer to the appropriate EMC² documentation.







12 Installing the Operating Systems

After completing the configuration of the Cisco Unified Computing System, the SAN, and storage, you can install the OS. To run the Adaptive Computing Compliance Test with the Cisco Unified Computing System, 64-bit Windows 2008 Server and Red Hat Enterprise Linux 5.4 was used as OS. Both Operating Systems are installed on a physical Blade as well as on a Virtual Machine based on VMware vSphere 4.

Method of Single OS Maintenance

Installation and maintenance of operating system environments for IT landscapes today is a cost intensive and time-consuming process. Modern deployment solutions try to reduce the costs of such efforts by automating operations and using the concept of the centralized shared data model. All data in a SAP solution landscape, such as operating system images, file systems, database files and application installation paths, are located on a central storage system to which the server for the landscape can connect to.

We assume that the reader of this document has technical knowledge in administration and configuration of Windows or Linux Operating Systems.

To simplify the OS Maintenance Cisco use the default Installation feature from Microsoft Windows for the very first installation of the Operating System. All other Operating System deployments will be done with copy or cloning methods of the installed Disks.

The Cisco Unified Computing System architecture and Cisco UCS Manager make it easy to work with replicated disk images because it is easy to reconfigure disks (by reassigning them from one Service Profile to another).

If there are any major changes to be done on the operating system or other "basic" software, this change has to be done only one time. This new or changed installation will then be defined as the new Master Disk or Golden Image and can be cloned as often as needed. To activate the new installation on a Server, it is only necessary to create a clone of the Master Disk and map this new disk to a Service Profile.

Patching or Changes can be done for a whole SAP landscape with a Rolling reboot approach. Relocate a running SAP system, shutting down the server, change the Boot LUN mapping and boot the server. Are there any problems with the new installation, change the Boot LUN back to the original LUN and restart the Server. The production can keep running with the "old" OS installation while issues with the "new" OS installation are fixed on a separate Service Profile configuration.

VMware vSphere 4 Installation

Install VMware vSphere 4 on a Cisco UCS blade server.

Open the Cisco UCS Manager and navigate to the service profile sapdemo03 to install the server esx001 and open the KVM Console

- 1. Click the **Servers** tab and navigate to sapdemo03.
- 2. Click KVM Console.









- 3. Open virtual media manager.
- 4. Go to Tools and select Launch Virtual Media.



5. Map the Installation DVD to the virtual drive.







6. For installation from a physical DVD, insert the media to your local DVD-Drive and click the checkbox **Mapped** for your local drive.

Client View Mapped Read Only Drive Exit Add Image Remove Image Details Ŧ	SAPTME01 / Chassis 1	- Server 1 - KVM Console- Virtual Media Session	
	Client View Mapped Read Only	Drive	Exit Add Image Remove Image Details ₹

7. For installation from an ISO image click Add Image.

2	SAPTME0	1 / Chassis 1	l - Server 1 - KVM Conso	le- Virtual Media Session	
	Client View				
	Mapped	Read Only		Drive	Exit
		\checkmark	🔊 D: - CD/DVD		Add Image
					Remove Image
					Details ¥

8. Click vSphere_40.iso.

🕌 Öffnen						×
Suchen in:		(G:)		•	Ø 🖻 🖪	
Recent Items Desktop Documents	Backup saproute sim Software en_windd menlo-E_ menlo-Q, rhel-serv SLES-10- SLES-11- VSphere	r Win2K8_x64_1.0.2d.i Win2K8_x64_1.0.2d.i Win2K8_x64_1.0.2d.i er-5.3-x86_64-dvd.iso \$P3-DVD-x86_64-GM- DVD-x86_64-GM- DVD-x86_64-GM- DVD-x86_64-GM-	standard_enterprise_d. so so DVD1.iso D1_1.iso	atacenter	_and_web_>	<64_dvd_x15-59754
	•					
	Dateiname:	vSphere_40.iso			Open	Öffnen
Network	Dateityp:	Disk image file (*.iso,	*.img)		-	Abbrechen

- 9. Click the checkbox Mapped.
- 10. Click Exit.





2	SAPTME0:	l / Chassis :	1 - Server 7 - KVM Console- Virtual Media Sessior	
	Client View			
	Mapped	Read Only	Drive	Exit
			🛃 A: - Floppy	0dd Image
			🖃 E: - Removable Disk	
		\checkmark	솔 D: - CD/DVD	Remove Image
			A G:\vSphere_40.iso - ISO Image File	Details ¥

- 11. Click Boot Server to boot the service profile.
- 12. Follow the installation steps displayed onscreen.

For more information, refer to the VMware installation documentation, "ESX and vCenter Server Installation Guide" (http://www.vmware.com/support/pubs/)

Windows Installation

Install Windows Server 2008 on a Cisco UCS Blade Server

Open the Cisco UCS Manager and navigate to the service profile sapdemo01 to install the server physwin and open the KVM Console.

1. Click the Servers tab and navigate to sapdemo01.







vmware[®]

3. From Tools and select Launch Virtual Mediab.



SAPTME01 / Chassis 1 - Server 1 - KVM Console- Virtual Media Session	
Client View Mapped Read Only Drive Image: Drive Image: Drive Image: Drive	Exit Add Image Remove Image Details ¥

- 4. Map the Installation DVD to the virtual drive.
- 5. To install from a physical DVD, insert the media to your local DVD-Drive and click the checkbox **Mapped** for you local drive.

🔺 SAPT	ME01 / Chassis 1	- Server 1 - KVM Console- Virtual Media Session	
Client	View		
Map	ned Read Only	Drive	Exit
		🔊 D: - CD/DVD	Add Image
			Remove Image
			Details ¥
			Details ¥

6. Click Add Image ... to install an ISO image.

2	SAPTMEO	1 / Chassis I	L - Server 1 - KVM Console	- Virtual Media Session	
	Client View				
	Mapped	Read Only		Drive	Exit
		Y	🔊 D: - CD/DVD		Add Image
					Remove Image
					Details ¥







7. Select the ISO-Image and click **Open**.

🛓 Open		
Look in	JSO 🔹	
Recent Items	b200-drivers.1.0.1e c2xx-m1-drivers-1.0.2 Emulex Isidrv	
Desktop	openSUSE-11.2-GNOME-LiveCD-i686 Qlogic Qlogic1 Menterserver-5.4-x86_64-dvd Reference of the provided of t	
My Documents	SLES-11-DVD-IS86-GM-DVD1 SLES-11-DVD-x86_64-GM-DVD1 SW_CD_W	
Computer		
Network	File name: /indows_Srv_2008_dc_ent_std_sp2_x64_dvd_342336.iso Open Files of type: Disk image file (*.iso, *.img) Cancel	

- 8. Click the checkbox Mapped.
- 9. Click Exit.

2	SAPTMEO	1 / Chassis 1	- Server 1 - KVM Console- Virtual Media Session	
	Client View			
	Mapped	Read Only	Drive	Exit
		\checkmark	💫 D: - CD/DVD	
			Structure C:\Users\ukleidon\Downloads\ISO\SW_DVD5_Winc	Add Image
				Remove Image
				Details ¥

- 10. Click Boot Server to boot the service profile.
- 11. Select the language and format settings and Click Next.





vmware[®]

3	Construction of the
🗱 Install Windows	
Windows Server 2008	
Willicows Ser Vel 2005	
Language to install' [Exalich	
Time and currency format: English (United States)	
Keyboard or input method: US	
Enter your language and other preferences and click "Next" to continue.	
Copyright @ 2009 Microsoft Corporation. All rights reserved.	Next
	- 14

12. Click Install now.









- 13. Select the operating system you want to install.
- 14. Select Windows Server 2008 R2 Enterprise (Full Installation) and Click Next.

Operating system	Architecture	Date modified
Windows Server 2008 R2 Standard (Full Installation)	x64	7/14/2009
Windows Server 2008 R2 Standard (Server Core Installation)	x64	7/14/2009
Windows Server 2008 R2 Enterprise (Full Installation)	x64	7/14/2009
Windows Server 2008 R2 Enterprise (Server Core Installation)	x04	7/14/2009
Windows Server 2006 R2 Datacenter (Full Installation)	x04 v64	7/14/2009
Windows Veh Server 2008 R2 (Full Installation)	x64	7/14/2009
Windows Web Server 2008 R2 (Server Core Installation)	x64	7/14/2009

- 15. Read the license terms and select the checkbox I accept the license terms.
- 16. Click Next.
- 17. Select Custom (advanced).



vmware[®]



- 18. Go back to the Virtual Media Manager Windows and add the Cisco UCS Drivers Media.
- 19. Uncheck the checkbox for the Windows installation media

2	SAPTMEO	1 / Chassis	1 - Server 1 - KVM Console- Virtual Media Session	
	Client View			
	Mapped	Read Only	Drive	Exit
			🛃 A: - Floppy	
			🖃 E: - Removable Disk	Add Image
				Remove Image
		\sim	2 D: - CD/D#D	
			G:\en_windows_server_2008_r2_standard_enterp	Details ¥

20. Accept the warning and unmap the drive by Click Yes.

Unmap I	Drive Requested
?	Instead of unmapping the drive it is preferable to eject the drive from the target device.
	Ejecting the drive gives the target device an opportunity to complete any pending transactions before the drive is unmapped.
	Do you still want to unmap G:\en_windows_server_2008_02_to_lard_enterprise_datacenter_and_web_x64_dvd_x15-59754.iso - ISO Image File?

21. Click Add Image





ð	SAPTMEO	1 / Chassis :	1 - Server 1 - KVM Console- Virtual Media Session	
	Client View			
	Mapped	Read Only	Drive	Exit
			🛃 A: - Floppy	Add Image
			🖃 E: - Removable Disk	Add Image
		\checkmark	🔊 D: - CD/DVD	Remove Image
			🕰 G:\en_windows_server_2008_r2_standard_enterp	Details ¥
	· · · · ·			

- 22. Select the Cisco UCS Qlogic driver media, MenIo-Q_Win2K8_x64_1.0.2d.iso.
- 23. Click Open.

🛓 Öffnen	×
Suchen in:	👝 BACKUP (G:) 🗾 🔊 🔝 📰
Recent Items	Backup Saprouter Sim Software
Desktop	en_windows_server_2008_r2_standard_enterprise_datacenter_and_web_x64_dvd_x15-59754 menlo-E_Win2K8_x64_1.0.2d.iso menlo-Q_Win2K8_x64_1.0.2d.iso rhel-server-5.3-x86_64-dvd.iso
Documents	SLES-10-SP3-DVD-x86_64-GM-DVD1.iso SLES-11-DVD-x86_64-GMC-DVD1_1.iso win2k8.iso
Computer	
<u>.</u>	Dateiname: menlo-Q_Win2K8_x64_1.0.2d.iso Open :p
Network	Dateityp: Disk image file (*.iso, *.img)

24. Click the checkbox Mapped.

2	SAPTMEO	1 / Chassis	1 - Server 1 - KYM Console- Virtual Media Sessior	
	Client View			
	Mapped	Read Only	Drive	Exit
			E: - Removable Disk	Add Image
		\checkmark	a D: - CD/DVD	Remove Image
		\checkmark	S:\en_windows_server_2008_r2_standard_ent	
			🛃 G:\menlo-Q_Win2K8_x64_1.0.2d.iso - ISO Imag	Details ¥







25. From the KVM screen click Browse.

9	🍠 Install Windows	×	
1 miles	Select the driver to be installed.		
	✓ Hide drivers that are not compatible with hardware on this computer.		
	Browse Rescan	Next	
1 Collecting infor	mation 2 Installing Windows		

26. Select the CD Drive and click OK.

Browse for Folder	X
Browse to the driver(s), and then click OK	
Computer Floppy Disk Drive (A:) Permeutible Disk (C:) CD Drive (D:) CD_ROM Doot (K:)	
OK Cancel	







27. Click Next to load the driver and start the scan process for available drives.

Select the driver to be installed.	
QLogic FCoE Adapter (D:\QLFCOEJNF)	
	_
☑ Hide drivers that are not compatible with hardware on this computer.	
Browse	Next

- 28. Select the disk that is highlighted and click **Next**.
- 29. Sometimes it is required to create a new partition; click New and then click Next.

Disk 0 Partition 1 101.0 MB 0.0 MB Offline Image: Disk 0 Partition 2 68.4 GB 0.0 MB Offline Image: Disk 1 Partition 1 68.5 GB 0.0 MB Offline Image: Disk 3 Unallocated Space 50.0 GB 50.0 GB Offline
Image: Disk 0 Partition 2 68.4 GB 0.0 MB Offline Image: Disk 1 Partition 1 68.5 GB 0.0 MB Offline Image: Disk 3 Unallocated Space 50.0 GB 50.0 GB Offline
Image: Disk 1 Partition 1 68.5 GB 0.0 MB Offline Image: Disk 3 Unallocated Space 50.0 GB 50.0 GB Offline
Disk 3 Unallocated Space 50.0 GB 50.0 GB Offline
Disk 4 Partition 1 101.0 MB 0.0 MB System
Refresh Delete Eormat New Delete Extend Image: Second
Windows cannot be installed to Disk 0 Partition 1. (Show details)

30. Continue to follow the Microsoft Windows installation instructions.







An additional important task to complete is to initialize and partition all new disks after creation. This is necessary since all newly created LUNs are not initialized and there is no partition and files systems yet created.

1. Open the Server Manager and initialize and partition all new disks after creation.



Install Windows Server 2008 on a Virtual Machine

Use the default VMware installation process to install Windows Server 2008 on a Virtual Machine. Refer to, *"Guest Operating System Installation Guide PDF"* (http://www.vmware.com/pdf/GuestOS_guide.pdf)

Install Java Software

SAP Software need the Java Runtime Environment. See SAP Note 941595.

Windows Registry changes

To run virtualized SAP Applications, registry changes on Windows are recommended.

- 1. Disable the network loopback check.
- Create the entry DisableLoopbackCheck as a DWORD under "HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SYSTEM\ CurrentControlSet\Control\Lsa" and set the Value to 1
- 3. Disable strict name checking.







 Create the Entry DisableStrictNameChecking as a DWORK under "HKEY_LOKAL_MACHINE\SYSTEM\CurrentControlSet\Services\LanmanServer\Parameters " and set the Value to 1

To disable the Auto update mechanism for Java, run the following commands:

Set EnableAutoUpdateCheck under "HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\JavaSoft\Java Update\Policy" /v to 0

Set SunJavaUpdateSched under "HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Microsoft\Windows\CurrentVersion\Run" to "-"

Set Environment Variables

To complete the operating system installation, it is necessary to change some environment variables and install additional software. In order to do this, connect to the server using the Microsoft Remote Desktop and the IP address or the corresponding hostname.

- 1. Expand the %PATH% variable with the following Directories:
 - (a) C:\usr\sap\adaptive
 - (b) C:\j2sdk1.4.2_<PatchLevel>\bin
 - (c) C:\usr\cisco\bin
- 2. Create JAVA_HOME variable
 - (a) Set JAVA_HOME to C:\j2sdk1.4.2_<PatchLeve>

Network Configuration

Previously, we changed the default naming of the network interfaces on the Windows Operating system to a more useful name; eth0 and eth1. It is also possible to change it to the same name than the interfaces have in the service profile configuration.

"Local Area Connection" to eth0 or vNIC1 and "Local Area Connection 2" to eth1 or vNIC2.



Eth0 is used for the whole network traffic in this sample with the IP rang 192.168.121.0



vmware[®]



Linux Installation

Install Red Hat Enterprise Linux 5.4 on a Cisco UCS Blade Server

Use the default UCS installation routine to install Red Hat Linux on a Cisco UCS blade server.

- 1. Open the Cisco UCS Manager and navigate to the service profile sapdemo02 to install the server physrh1 and open the KVM Console.
- 2. Click the Servers tab and navigate to sapdemo02b.
- 3. Click KVM Console.



4. Open virtual media manager.





5. From Tools click Launch Virtual Media.

🛕 sapdemo01 (Chassis 1 S	erver 1)		
File View Macros Tools	Help		
🕹 Bost Server 🔩 Sh	Session Options		
KVM Console Properti	Single Cursor		
	State		
	Launch Virtual Media		
🔺 SAPTMEO	1 / Chassis 1	- Server 1 - KVM Console- Virtual Media Session	
at the			
Mapped	Read Only	Drive	Exit
	\checkmark	A D: - CD/DVD	
			Add Image
			Remove Image
			Details ¥

- 6. Map the Installation DVD to the virtual drive.
- 7. To install from a physical DVD, insert the media into your local DVD-Drive and click the checkbox **Mapped**.

2	SAPTMEO	1 / Chassis 1	- Server 1 - KVM Console- Virtual Media Session	
	Client View Manned	Read Only	Drive	Exit
			A D: - CD/DVD	Add Image
				Remove Image
				Details ¥

8. To install from a ISO image, click Add Image ...

2	SAPTMEO	1 / Chassis 1	- Server 1 - KVM Console- Virtual Media Sessior	
	Client View			
	Mapped	Read Only	Drive	Exit
		V	🗟 D: - CD/DVD	Add Image
				Remove Image
				Details ¥
				_

9. Select the ISO-Image and click **Open**.







ł	🕹 Open			×
Γ	Look in:	🔒 ISO		
	Recent Items	b200-driv c2xx-m1- Emulex Isidrv openSUSE	ers.1.0.1e drivers-1.0.2 =-11.2-GNOME-LiveCD-i686	
	Desktop	Qlogic Qlogic1	r-5.4-x86_64-dvd	
	My Documents	SUES-11-0 SUES-11-0 SW_CD_W)VD-1202)VD-x86_64-GM-DVD1 /indows_Svr_Std_2003_R2_32-BIT_English2_R2_CD1_ISO_MLF_X1 _Windows_Srv_2008_dc_ent_std_sp2_x64_dvd_342336	2-58049
	Computer			
	Network	File <u>n</u> ame: Files of <u>t</u> ype:	/indows_Srv_2008_dc_ent_std_sp2_x64_dvd_342336.iso	Open Cancel

10. Click the checkbox Mapped.

2	SAPTMEO	1 / Chassis 1	- Server 1 - KVM Console- Virtual Media Session	
	Client View			
	Mapped	Read Only	Drive	Exit
		\checkmark	😂 D: - CD/DVD	
(C:\Users\ukleidon\Downloads\ISO\rhel-server-5.4-	Add Image
				Remove Image
				Details ¥

11. Click Boot Server to boot the service profile.

A sapdemo01 (Chassis 1 Server 1)
File Macros Tools Help
Soot Server Sutdown Server. SReset
roperties
No Signal

12. Continue to follow the installation procedure on the screen.







Install Red Hat Enterprise Linux 5.4 on a Virtual Machine

Use the default VMware installation process to install Red Hat Linux on a Virtual Machine. See "Guest Operating System Installation Guide PDF" (<u>http://www.vmware.com/pdf/GuestOS_guide.pdf</u>)

Install Java Software

SAP Software need the Java Runtime Environment. See SAP Note 1172419.

Preparing Linux OS to Host the SAP system

The SAP LinuxLab provides recommendations on how to prepare your Linux OS for SAP environments. See SAP Note 171356 for general SAP on Linux advisory and SAP Note 1048303 for specific Red Hat Enterprise Linux 5 configuration.







13 Additional Software

Patches

Install all recommended Patches and Updates for the OS. Please refer to the OS vendor website as well as to the SAP notes to make sure that all required patches are installed.

EMC² Software

Install the EMC² Navisphere for CLARiiON or Symmetrix Management Console (SMC) for Symmetrix VMAX. Solutions Enabler software will be used for either implementation. It is highly recommended that you install this Software because PowerPath helps ensure automatic host registration with EMC CLARiiON storage. The SolutionEnabler includes the navcli command line utility. EMC² PowerPath is recommended for SAP production systems. On Linux you can also use embedded multipathing software. For more information about multipathing software and device setup, refer to EMC² PowerPath documentation.

Please refer to "SAP Adaptive Computing Controller EMC Library for SAP Adaptive (ELSA) UNIX and Windows" Technical Note (P/N 300-004-680) for more details on the EMC software.







14 Central Services

It is required that a Microsoft Active Directory (AD) Structure is running before you can start to implement any virtualized SAP systems on Windows. We recommend that a new Active Directory or a Sub-Tree of an existing Directory is used for Adaptive Computing. You need Administrative rights to add Users, Groups and Computers to this AD. Please follow the Documentation from Microsoft to setup an AD structure on a new Server.

For the SAP Adaptive Computing Compliant implementation the server vmad is used to serve the central services:

- Active Directory
- DNS Server
- DHCP Server (optional)

After the operating system installation the role Active Directory Domain controller must be activated. Part of the AD Domain controller is the required DNS server. The used Domain name is SAPACC.VCE.CORP as a new Tree.

Please read the related documentation from Microsoft if you are unfamiliar with the Active Directory concept.







15 Installing Database and SAP Applications

For more information about application installation, refer to the SAP installation documentation.

physical hostnames	Description	IP addresses
vmacc	virtual machine, Linux, SAP ACC system	192.168.121.16
vmad	virtual machine, Windows, Active Directory	192.168.121.17
vmrh1	virtual machine, Linux, prepared for ACC	192.168.121.18
vmwin	virtual machine, Windows, prepared for ACC	192.168.121.19
physrh1	physical machine, Linux, prepared for ACC	192.168.121.20
physwin	physical machine, Windows, prepared for ACC	192.168.121.26
virtual hostnames		
dbwin	WIN database instance	192.168.121.21
paswin	WIN Primary Application Server instance	192.168.121.22
ascswin	WIN ABAP System Central Services instance	192.168.121.23
scswin	WIN System Central Services instance	192.168.121.24
dwin01	WIN Dialog instance	192.168.121.25
dbwi2	WI2 database instance	192.168.121.35
paswi2	WI2 Primary Application Server instance	192.168.121.36
dwi201	WI2 Dialog instance	192.168.121.37
dbrh1	RH1 database instance	192.168.121.27
pasrh1	RH1 Primary Application Server instance	192.168.121.28
ascsrh1	RH1 ABAP System Central Services instance	192.168.121.29
scsrh1	RH1 System Central Services instance	192.168.121.30
drh100	RH1 Dialog instance	192.168.121.31
drh101	RH1 Dialog instance	192.168.121.32
dbrh2	RH2 database instance	192.168.121.37
pasrh2	RH2 Primary Application Server instance	192.168.121.38
ascsrh2	RH2 ABAP System Central Services instance	192.168.121.39
scsrh2	RH2 System Central Services instance	192.168.121.40
drh200	RH2 Dialog instance	192.168.121.41

For our sample we use the following settings:

File systems:

LUN	Size	Mount point	Description	
024B	240 GB	-	VMware ESX datastore	
[NFS]	-	/home	Linux global mount	
[NFS]	-	/usr/sap/trans	Linux global mount	
[NFS]	-	/sapmnt	Linux global mount	
[NFS]	-	/oracle/client	RH1 global mount	
0255	100 GB	/oracle/block	RH1 database instance mount	
[NFS]	-	/usr/sap/RH1/DVEBMGS00	RH1 PAS instance mount	
[NFS]	-	/usr/sap/RH1/ASCS01	RH1 ASCS instance mount	







[NFS]	-	/oracle/client	RH2 global mount
0255	100 GB	/oracle/block	RH2 database instance mount
[NFS]	-	/usr/sap/RH2/DVEBMGS02	RH2 PAS instance mount
[NFS]	-	/usr/sap/RH2/ASCS03	RH2 ASCS instance mount
0259	100 GB	C:\MSSQL\WIN	WIN database instance mount
025D	10 GB	C:\usr\sap\WIN\DVEBMGS00	WIN CI instance mount
025E	10 GB	C:\usr\sap\WIN\SYS	WIN SYS directory mount
025F	10 GB	C:\usr\sap\WIN\D01	WIN dialog instance 01 mount
0260	100 GB	C:\MSSQL\WI2	WI2 database instance mount
0261	10 GB	C:\usr\sap\WI2\DVEBMGS02	WI2 PAS instance mount
0262	10 GB	C:\usr\sap\SYS	WI2 PAS instance mount

Grey shaded file systems are managed by ACC.

The installation process of an SAP Application at all is described in the SAP Application documentation and ACC Implementation- and Operation Guide.

Windows Based Installations

Copy the required software media that are required to install the specific application like ERP to a LUN on the EMC storage. Here are two of the existing ways to copy the SAP installation Media onto a Windows server running on Cisco Unified Computing System.

1. Insert media into the DVD-Drive of your Desktop and copy the Software through the network to a UNC or NFS path

Or

2. Use the Cisco UCS Manager Virtual Media Manager to map the local DVD-Drive to a server in the Cisco UCS system. The DVD-Content will show up as in a local drive attached to the server.

Make sure that all prerequisites' like Java Runtime or are installed before starting the sap installation.

The sapinst procedure requires installing the SAP Central Instance on the same Disk than the SAPMNT Share. Please make sure that you have 10GB free space for the installation on the disk you have created the sapmnt share. Do not mount the LUNs to the $<X>:\usr\sap\<SID>\$ dir for the installation process. The Database files can be located direct to the right LUNs mounted at C:\MSSQL\<SID>\

After the installation of all Instances is finished, stop the SAP system and the SAP services. Move the directories and files under the <SID>-Directory (C:\usr\sap\<SID>) to the LUN that are mounted to a temporary directory or Drive letter and remount this to C:\usr\sap\<SID>.

Please be aware that you have to set the environment variable SAPINST_USE_HOSTNAME to CITST.sample.corp before you start the installation. An option is to open a CMD-Windows and start







the installation process with "sapinst.exe SAPINST_USE_HOSTNAME=CITST.sample.corp.

Note: See also SAP Note 1282975

Microsoft SQL 2008 Server Installation

The Microsoft SQL 2008 Server must be installed on each host who should serve a SQL database individually. To help ensure that all settings for SAP are defined right we used the software media provided by SAP to install Microsoft SQL 2008 Server with the SQL4SAP.vbs command.

Note: See SAP Note 1144459

In some cases the installation procedure must install also updates for the Microsoft Installer software and the .Net framework. This required at least one operating system reboot. The installation routine will restart automatically after the logon.

Oracle RDBMS 10.2 Installation

The Oracle RDBMS binaries can be shared with some SAP systems or each SAP system can have an own Oracle installation. To be more flexible the preferred installation type is to have a dedicated Oracle installation for each SAP system. The Oracle installation shall be done before the SAP installation. The best practice is to have the same SID for the Oracle database that for the related SAP system, i.e. SAP SID = ERT -> Oracle SID = ERT.

Please follow the Oracle installation guide to install the RDBMS software.

MaxDB Installation

The MaxDB installation is part of the sapinst procedure; there is no preparation required.

SAP Host Agent Installation

Download and install the latest SAP Host Agent from SAP Service Marketplace. See SAP Note 1031096.

SAP system Installation

Now after the operating system and database binaries are prepared the SAP installation can be done. For a virtualized SAP installation please take care that all IP-Addresses are configured and that all LUNs to store the database files are mounted. Please start sapinst with the parameter SAPINST_USE_HOSTNAME=<hostname>. We will here only show the steps that are different to a default SAP installation procedure.

Note: See SAP Note 962955

Global Host Preparations for SAP System WIN

Start the Installation procedure with sapinst.exe SAPINST_USE_HOSTNAME=paswin.

And select <APPL> -> <DB> ->Distributed System ->Based on AS <XXX> -> Global Host Preparation.

11111 CISCO



Select the service that you want to install



Follow the steps on the screen.

Database Instance for SAP System WIN

- 1. Start the Installation procedure with sapinst.exe SAPINST_USE_HOSTNAME=dbwin.
- 2. Select <APPL> -> <DB> ->Distributed System ->Based on AS <XXX> -> Database Instance.









3. Follow the steps on the screen.

Configuration of Database Files

Add a row for each database file name. You can enter both data files and log files.

Туре	Name	Pain	Size (MB)
data	🖺 WI1DATA1	C:\MSSQL\WI1\WI1DATA1	2000
data	🛅 WI1DATA2	C:\MSSQL\WI1\WI1DATA2	2000
data	🛅 WI1DATA3	C:\MSSQL\WI1\WI1DATA3	2000
log	🔳 WI1LOG1	C:\MSSQL\WI1\WI1LOG1	1000
Add Remove			
▲ Back Next ▶			

4. Change the Database File location to C:\<DATABASE TYPE>\<SID>\...

Central Instance for SAP System WIN

- 1. Start the Installation procedure with sapinst.exe SAPINST_USE_HOSTNAME=paswin.
- 2. Select <APPL> -> <DB> ->Distributed System ->Based on AS <XXX> -> Central Instance.



3. Follow the steps on the screen.







Phase List	Execution of	rt Release 3 > SAP
 Check Solutionmanaç Update system DLLs Create users for SAP Install common system 	SAP NetWeaver 7.0 Support Release 3 > SAP Systems > MS SQL Server > Distributed System > Based on AS ABAP > Central Instance has been completed successfully.	fully
 Unpack SAP archives Configure database c 		
 Install central instance Start central services instance 	stance	
 Start instance BRB pact installation of 		
 ABAP post installation a Check DDIC password 	cumues	
 Run ABAP Reports Change default passwo 	rds	

Now the SAP system is installed and running.

Linux Based Installations

Database Instance Installation

Follow the SAP Installation Guide. For installations in an Adaptive Computing environment, your database has to be switchable. To perform the necessary steps, include the sections marked "HA (UNIX)".

SAP Host Agent Installation

Download and install the latest SAP Host Agent from SAP Service Marketplace. See SAP Note 1031096.

SAP System Installation

Follow the SAP Installation Guide. For installations in an Adaptive Computing environment, your SAP instance has to be switchable. To perform the necessary steps, include the sections marked "HA (UNIX)".

Linux Host Preparation

After you installed a database or an SAP instance on a host, you have to prepare the other host(s) to take over the switchable instance. To adapt the other host(s), do the following:

• Users and groups (use the same ID)







- Port configuration (/etc/services)
- Not switchable Database specific directories and files
- Not switchable SAP instance specific directories and files







16 Configuring the ACC

Creating Pools and Networks

Create pools and networks based on your specific environment. For the demo environment, we only created one pool and one network.

Integration of a Computing Resource

Resource Configuration (3 re	source(s)) - Expand tray to see all resources
Add Resource Steps	
Save Cancel Revious	Jext 🕨
 	2
Detect Resources Save	Resources
Resource detection	
View Detection Issues Get Cad	ched Resources
Host Name:	Vmwin1 Detect Now
Host Agent Port:	1128
Use Secure Communication (HTTPS):	
Timeout [seconds]:	30 🗐
Use Default Credentials:	
User Name:	sapacc\sapadm
Password:	

1. Enter the physical hostname of the server. Make sure that the SAP Host Agent is running and provide its credentials.







Resource	Steps						
e Cancel	Previo	us Next 🕨					
1		2	-				
Detect Res	ources 5	Save Resources					
t the res	ources to be	saved					
the resou	rces to be sav	ed. This is only po	ssible for resou	irces not yet configured. A	fter the save the resource can be	configured normally.	
	select All	Conv Settings fro	m Template				
CLAIL DO		Copy Settings inc	Deel	Onevetine Sustain	Oneveting System Version	CDU Tuma	Address Susse
ave Re	source	AC Managed	P001	Operating System	Operating System Version	СРО Туре	Address Space
J um	win1		nool1 T	Mindows NT	Mindows Server 2008	¥86.64 👻	64
	Cancel C	Cancel Cancel Previo Cancel Previo Cancel Previo Cancel Previo Cancel Cancel Previo Cancel C	Cancel Cancel Previous Next Cancel Previous Next Cancel Converting Con	Cancel C	Cancel Previous Next Cancel Providuation Previous Previou	Cancel C	

2. Assign the resource to a pool. The other columns should be filled automatically with information that the SAP Host Agent provides.

Resource Configuration (4 resource(s)) - Expand	tray to see all resources		ED
Configuration - vmwin1			
Save Cancel Previous Next F Import Configurati	on		
Step 1 Step 2 Basic Configuration Resource Properties M	step 3		
Adaptive Management			
Pool Assignment			
Test Connection Timeout [seconds]: 10			
Use Default Credentials	Use Secure Communic Port:	ation (HTTPS):	

3. After you added the resource, you have to configure it. The information you specify on the first configuration page should be the same as entries you made when adding the resource.







Resource Configuration (4 resource(s)) - Expand tray to	see all resources
Configuration - vmwin1	
Save Cancel Previous Next F Import Configuration	
Step 1 Step 2 Step 2 Step 2 Step 2 Step 2 Step 3 Step 4 Step 4	ap 3
Adaptive Enablement	
tc Enabled: ✓ 4C Operational: ✓	
Capabilities	
SAPS Provided: 0	
Network Assignment	
Add Remove Retrieve & Add Interfaces from Host Agent Add Interface ID	Timeout [seconds]: 10 New Interface ID: eth0
The Interface ID	Network
eth0 •	192.168.121.0

- 4. Enable "AC Enabled" and "AC Operational". This help ensures that the SAP ACC can operate the resource. Assign a network to each NIC that will hold virtual IP addresses.
- 5. Save the configuration or proceed to "Mass Configuration" if you want to configure several resources with the same settings.







Integrating an SAP Service

Overview Services	Resources	Virtualization	Activities	Task Planner	Logs	Configuration
Service Configuration (2 system	n(s)) - Expan	d tray to see	all services			
Add Service Steps						
Save Cancel Previous Nex	t 🕨					
1 2		3	-			
Detect Services Select Se	l r vices Ass	ian to System				
Service detection						
View Detection Issues Get Cache	d Services					
lost Name:	physwin		Detect Now			
lost Agent Port:	1128		(2) (2)			
Jse Secure Communication (HTTPS):						
l'imeout (seconds):	30 🗐	Ī				
Detect and configure Diagnostics Agen(
Jatabase Administrator Settings (G	Optional)					
	ot set database	s may be detecte	d, but monitoring	may fail.		
f set, these credentials are verified. If r	or oorl agrapage					

6. Enter the physical host name of the host where the SAP system is installed. Make sure that the SAP Host Agent and the SAP system are running. When you click "Detect Now", the SAP ACC collects data from the SAP Host Agent.

Service Confi	guration (2 system(s)) - Expand tray to see all services			Ξ
Add Service Ste	aps			
Save Cancel	Previous Next			
l →1 Detect Servi	2 3			
Select Services	for Assignment to System			
Select this service	e to assign a non-AC managed service to a system			
If the host name o	f a service is incorrect, then select this service, enter a host name in the "N	lew Host Name" field, and choose "Set".		
If checked, this Di	agnostics Agent will be saved as a non-regular (hidden) service and will b	e prepared and unprepared implicitly toget	her with the corresponding	, regular servic
Select All Des	elect All New Host Name: Set			
n Assign	Service	Host Name	AC Managed	Pool
	WIN System Database (ABAP): MS SQL, dbwin	dbwin		
	WIN Central Instance (ABAP): 00, paswin	paswin		

In the following step, you see which instances the SAP Host Agent reported to SAP ACC. These instances have to be assigned to an SAP system.







S	ervice Configuration (2 system(s)) - Expand tra	y to see all services	
A	dd Service Steps Save Cancel • Previous Next •		
∳- \$	1 2 3 Detect Services Select Services Assign to select System elect System elect the system to assign the services to.	System	
Kı	nown Systems		System Properties
卮	System	AC Managed	System ID: WIN
F			Host Name:
	New System		
	ACC: Web AS Java, vmacc		Suctor Tune:
	RH1: Web AS ABAP 701, dbrh1	V	Release:

7. Create a new system. Host Name is usually the same as the virtual host name of the database instance.







Successfully tested database admin credentials. Reported database status: Running
Related Links
Overview Services Resources Virtualization Activities Task Planner Logs Configuration
Service Configuration (3 system(s)) - Expand tray to see all services
Configuration - WIN - System Database (ABAP): MS SQL, dbwin
Save Cancel Previous Next V Import Configuration
l∳Step 1Step 2Step 3Step 4
Basic Configuration Service Properties Mount Points Mass Configuration
Adaptive Management
AC Managed:
AC Operational:
Pool Assignment
Pool: pool1 💌
Additional Information
escription: WIN Database Business Area: Service Group:
Database Administrator Configuration
Test Credentials Timeout [seconds]: 10 Host Agent Port: 1,128 Use Https: No 💌
User Name:
Password:
Advanced Database Configuration(Optional)
Instancename:
Configuration Directory, C:WSSQLW/INW/INDATA1
Diagnostics Agent
Manage Diagnostics Agent Instance Agent Registration User:
SID: Instance Agent Registration Password:
System Number: Instance Agent Profile Path: Retrieve from Instance Agent

8. After you added the service, you have to configure it. Enable "AC Managed" and "AC Operational".

These settings help ensure that the SAP ACC can operate the service. Depending on database type and installation settings, you have to provide the credentials of the database user as well as the instance name and a configuration directory.







Save Cancel Previous Next	Import Configuration		
l∳Step 1St	<mark>ep 2</mark> Step 3Step	4	
Basic Configuration Service	Prop <mark>erties</mark> Mount Points Mass Confi	guration	
Adaptive Enablement			
Installed with Virtual Host Name:			
AC Enabled:			
Virtual Host Names & Networks			
Add Remove			
To Virtual Host Name		Network	
dbwin		192.168.121.0	•
Dequiremente			
Requirements			Preferred Host:
Required SAPS: 0	Required Memory [M), lo	
Required SAPS: 0 Required Resource Type	Required Memory [M		
Required SAPS: 0 Required Resource Type Retrieve from Host Agent Timeout	[seconds]: 10 Host Agent Port:	1,128 Use Https: No V Number of Selec	ted Resource Types: 1

9. Enable "AC Enabled". This help ensures that the SAP ACC can relocate the service. Assign the virtual hostname to a network configuration. Choose the Operating System types that the service can run on.

S	Service Configuration (3 system(s)) - Expand tray to see all services				ED		
C	onfiguration - WIN - S	System Databas	e (ABAP): MS SQI	., dbwin			
5	ave Cancel 💽 Prev	ious Next 🕨 Ir	nport Configuration				
+-	Step 1 Basic Configuration	Step 2	Step 3 Mount Points	Step 4 Mass Configuration			
M	ount Point Configura	ation					E
os	OS Managed Mounts (Automounter):						
H	Add Clone Remove Sort Move Up Move Down Extract Mount Points Retrieve Mount List Timeout [seconds]: 10 Host Agent Port: 1,128 Use Https: No Image: Comparison of the second seco						
5	Storage Type	Mount Point	Export Path	Mount Options	FS/SRID Type	Partner ID	System-wide
	SR 💌	dbwin			W2K_LDM	emc	

10. Choose whether your file systems get mounted by the Operating Systems automatically.

If not, you have to configure the SAP ACC managed mount points. Depending on your setup, you first have to choose the "Storage Type". This selection determines what your mount point configuration should look like.

- 11. Choose "SR" as Storage Type to use a third party storage library implementation.
- Depending on the solution you are using, configure the fields "FS/SRID Type" and "Partner ID". In our demo, we use an EMC-provided storage library (part of EMC Solutions Enabler 7.1) to mount and unmount file systems.






In the case of the EMC solution, the field "Mount Point" does not indicate the destination of the file system, but it determines the entry of the configuration file "emcadaptive.ini". In this configuration file, source, destination and type of the file system is specified. For configuration details, see the documentation for the storage library in use.

13. Under Linux, simple NFS mount points can be configured without using a third-party storage library. Choose "NFS" as the Storage Type and leave the "FS/SRID Type" and "Partner ID" fields empty. The rest of the field entries are self-explanatory.

A "System-wide" mount point means that this mount point is available on every resource where one or more services of the same SAP system is running on.

14. Save the configuration or proceed to "Mass Configuration" if you want to configure several services with the same settings.







17 Conclusion

Designed using a new and innovative approach to improve data center infrastructure, the Cisco Unified Computing System unites compute, network, storage access, and virtualization resources into a scalable, modular architecture that is managed as a single system.

For the Cisco Unified Computing System, Cisco has partnered with SAP because SAP applications provide mission-critical software foundations for the majority of large enterprises worldwide. In addition, the architecture and large memory capabilities of the Cisco Unified Computing System, using VMware vSphere 4 virtual infrastructure and connected to industry-proven and scalable EMC storage, enable customers to scale and manage SAP system environments in ways not previously possible.

Both SAP Basis administrators and system administrators will benefit from the Cisco Unified Computing System combination of superior architecture, outstanding performance, and unified fabric. They can achieve demonstrated results by following the documented best practices for SAP installation, configuration, and management outlined in this document.

In summary, the Cisco Unified Computing System provides a new computing model that uses integrated management and combines a wire-once unified fabric with an industry-standard computing platform.

The platform:

- Optimizes SAP system environments
- Reduces total overall cost of the data center
- Provides dynamic resource provisioning for increased business agility
- The benefits of the Cisco Unified Computing System include:
- Reduced TCO: Enables up to 20 percent reduction in capital expenditures (CapEx) and up to 30 percent reduction in operating expenses (OpEx)
- Improved IT productivity and business agility: Enables IT to provision applications in minutes instead of days and shifts the focus from IT maintenance to IT innovation
- Increased scalability without added complexity: Is managed as a single system, whether the system has one server or 320 servers with thousands of virtual machines
- Improved energy efficiency: Significantly reduces power and cooling costs
- Interoperability and investment protection: Provides assurance through infrastructure based on industry standards

With VMware vSphere 4 virtual infrastructure, you can:

- Realize immediate ROI.
- Increase SAP data center utilization, flexibility, availability, and agility.
- Decrease SAP data center costs for space, energy, cooling, hardware, and labor.







- Upgrade safely to the latest SAP solutions and simplify the transition to 64-bit environments.
- Align SAP resource usage with business priorities.
- Increase availability of all environments at a lower cost.
- Increase uptime during planned maintenance
- Create cost-effective disaster recovery systems to deal with unplanned failures or outages.
- Quickly deploy new SAP solutions-based environments for development and testing.
- Increase software quality at lower cost for your own SAP application-based development.

At our test we have not seen any performance issues with the SAP Applications or the communication between the single Services in the ACC Landscape.







18 For More Information

SAP Adaptive Computing: http://www.sdn.sap.com/irj/sdn/adaptive Cisco Unified Computing System http://www.cisco.com/en/US/netsol/ns944/index.html# SAP on VMware: http://www.vmware.com/sap SDN Forum "SAP on VMware": http://forums.sdn.sap.com/forum.jspa?forumID=471

cisco.

Cisco Systems, Inc. 170 West Tasman Drive San Jose, CA 95134-1706 USA www.cisco.com

Tel: 408 526-4000 800 553-NETS (6387) Fax: 408 527-0883

© 2010 Cisco Systems, Inc. All rights reserved. Cisco, the Cisco logo, and Cisco Systems are registered trademarks or trademarks of Cisco Systems, Inc. and/or its affiliates in the United States and certain other countries. All other trademarks mentioned in this document are the property of their respective owners. (0805R)

SAP and all SAP logos are trademarks or registered trademarks of SAP AG in Germany and several other countries.

Document number: UCS-TR100008